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REPORT OF THE COUNCIL OF MANAGEMENT
AND OF THE DIRECTOR FOR 1953.

AN interlude in the excavation programme, the resumption of which will be
described below, has enabled the Institute in its fifth year to realize one of its
cherished projects. It had always been hoped that the Director could devote a
season to recording and surveying some of the superb monuments still above
ground ; the chosen site of Alanya has been even more repaying than had been
anticipated ; his account of Alanya will be found on another page.

MeMBERsHIP OF COUNCIL OF MANAGEMENT

Professor Garrod’s retirement, as representative of the University of Cambridge,
is a source of deep regret to all ; but the Council is fortunate in the appointment
to replace her of Miss Munn-Rankin, who has already served as an Elected Member
and is familiar with the business conducted by the Council.

The resignation of another member of Council, Mr. G. U. Spencer Corbett,
owing to his taking up an appointment abroad, is much regretted by his colleagues.

Lectures IN LoNDON :

The lecture programme was curtailed in 1953 as a measure of economy, but
the two held were well attended by scholars from various fields and by many
friends of the Institute. The subjects were :—

Excavations and Travels in Turkey, by Mr. Seton Lloyd, on 6th February, 1953.
The Importance of Southern Turkey for Early Byzantine Church Art and Architecture,
by Mr. Michael Gough, on 27th November, 1953.

Arrangements have been made for three lectures in the new year.

JourNaL :

Volume III has been for some time in the hands of subscribers and other
purchasers. Volume IV is already being compiled.

OccasioNnaL PusricaTtions, No. 2:

This publication, announced in our previous .issue, has now appeared : The
Alalakh Tablets, by D. J. Wiseman. The book has received a warm welcome, and
the debt which the Institute owes to the generous contributors mentioned in our
Fourth Annual Report, has been augmented by a further donation of 100 from
the Australian Institute of Archaeology through the good offices of its President,
Mr. W. J. Beasley.

FINANCE :

The result of the appeal to Academic Bodies for increased annual subscriptions
has met a generous response which will be seen in the accounts of the current
financial year when published in the next Annual Report.

In virtue of Turkish legislation, the annual rent of our headquarters at Ankara
has been increased by £244 from the 1st January, 1954, with a retrospective pay-
ment of £180. Fortunately this extra charge is just covered from certain savings.
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4 ANATOLIAN STUDIES
LiBrARY :

During the year under review well over 100 books have been added to the
Institute’s library. Those purchased include important items such as Sarre and
Herzfeld, Archdologische Reise in Tigris und FEuphrat-gebiet ; Dittenberger’s Orientis
Graecae Inscriptiones Selectae (1903) ; aset of the Beihefte from Archiv fiir Orientforschung ;
the publications of the Princeton Expedition to Syria (1914-30) ; Cuinet, La Turquie
d’ Asie ; Smirnov, Oriental Silver (published by the Russian Imperial Archaeological
Commission) ; A. J. B. Wace, Mjycenae (1949) ; P. Dikaios, Khirokitia (1953) ;
C. Blegen, Troy, the Sixth Settlement (1953) ; C. L. Woolley and R. D. Barnett,
Carchemish 1II (1933), and many others. A duplicate card catalogue of the Library
and a list of all books sent out are kept by the Hon. Librarian and may be consulted
on request.

The following works, which are gratefully acknowledged, were presented to the
Library :—

Colonel Lamouche, Histoire de la Turquie (1934), by Mme G. de Csippek.

Sir Leonard Woolley, 4 Forgotten Kingdom (1953), by the author.

Dorothy B. Waage, Antioch-on-the-Orontes, iv, pt. 2 (Coins) (1952), by the author.

G. Zuntz, Text of the Pauline Epistles (1953), by C. J. Gadd, Esq.

J. Garstang, Prehistoric Mersin (1952), by the author.

Seton Lloyd, Mesopotamia, Excavations in Sumerian Sites (1935) ; Ruined Cities of
Iraq (1942) and Irag (1944), by the author.

Ahmet Gokoglu, Paphlagonia (1952), by the author.

W. E. D. Allen and the late Paul Muratoff, Caucasian Battlefields (1953), by
W. E. D. Allen, Esq., O.B.E.

- Valuable offprints were received with thanks from Mr. G. M. A. Hanfmann,
Bayan Arlette Cenani, Dr. Muzaffer Senyiirek, Miss Dorothy Cox, Mr. G. A.
Wainwright and Bay Riistem Diiyiiran, Bay Sedat Alp, Mr. A. M. Woodward,
Messrs. G. E. Bean and J. M. Cook.

Exchanges with Anatolian Studies have been authorized, in addition to those
previously reported, with the Revue des Etudes Grecques ; publications of Kungl.
Vitterhets Historie och Antikvitets Akademien, Stockholm ; Bulletin du Musée de Beyrouth ;
and publications of the Société Finlandaise d’ Archéologie, Helsinki. Others are under
discussion.

THE PROGRAMME FOR THE FUTURE :

The Institute looks forward to the resumption of excavations in 1954. While
work on the important Islamic remains at Harran will be continued when Dr.
Storm Rice returns from America, the Director’s activities will be concentrated
on a site which seems, both by reason of its situation and its character, to be of
exceptional promise. Beycesultan, in the Meander Valley, is large enough to have
been the provincial capital of an area densely populated in early times. On the
summit are worked blocks which have features comparable with the masonry of
Bogazkdy : other blocks, plundered apparently from the settlement, have the same
character. There are, however, some columns tapering from top to bottom among
the latter, which recall the shape of Minoan pillars. The pottery indicates occupa-
tion during the grd and 2nd millennia but no later. Archacologists have long
realized the need to investigate these periods in the South-West, about which
comparatively little is known, and the fact that many scholars lecate there that
important but enigmatic people of Arzawa, so often mentioned in Hittite records,
is an additional incentive to exploration. History as well as archacology may be
enriched, and application has been made for permission to excavate.
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ANKARA :

During the year 1953 eighteen Students, Fellows and visiting Council Members
have either used the Institute in Ankara as their headquarters or worked under its
auspices for purposes of research in Turkey. One gratifying development observable
after this fifth operational season has been the regular appearance in the field of the
same workers. Both individuals and groups of scholars, committed to long-term
programmes of Anatolian research, have, owing to the perennial character of their
work, become integrated in the Ankara establishment, identifying themselves with
its aims and contributing an element of continuity to the process of their attainment.

In this category are Mr. and Mrs. Michael Gough, who have completed a fifth
season of recording Cilician monuments : Messrs. Macpherson and Mellaart have
returned for the third successive season to work in the classical and Bronze Age
spheres respectively, and a third successive expedition has been led by Miss Seton-
Williams to the southern provinces in search of early sites. In another milieu,
Dr. D. Storm Rice has thrice collaborated with the Director in the investigation and
recording of Islamic monuments and the Walker Trust excavations in Istanbul have
brought Professor D. Talbot Rice on a third visit to Turkey. At the same time there
have been newcomers to the Anatolian field, and at Ankara the hostel accommoda-
tion has been filled to capacity throughout the season.

The Director’s primary preoccupation during the summer was the expedition to
Pamphylia for the recording of medieval monuments and inscriptions at and around
Alanya. During the autumn months, advantage was taken of Dr. O. R. Gurney’s
presence in the Institute to consider and discuss historico-geographical and other
aspects of the report and maps prepared by Mr. Mellaart in connection with his
extensive survey of pre-classical sites in south-west Turkey. In this connection in

September a short expedition was organised with the purpose of revisiting some of
the major sites mentioned in the report, and it resulted in the recommendation of
Beycesultan for excavation by the Institute in 1954.

The archaeological material obtained as a result of the 1951-52 excavations at
Sultantepe has not been neglected, and some work has been done on the objects so
far unpublished. In so far as the tablets are concerned, the installation of an electric
kiln in the Ankara Museum has made the process of baking practicable, and the
entire library has now been preserved in this way. Dr. Gurney was accordingly able
to spend the months of October and November in refitting fragments and copying
texts. Some unexpected discoveries made in this way will be reported by him
elsewhere.

During the course of the year, some social entertaining was done in the Institute,
and a number of prominent Ankara personalities enlisted as its friends and supporters.
An experiment in November, whose success would justify its repetition in subsequent
seasons, was an evening gathering of some twenty-five junior Turkish archaeologists
from Ankara University and the staffs of the Museum and Antiquities Department.
A small exhibition of photographs and drawings was arranged and coloured slides
shown on a projector.

The Alanya Expedition :

The work at Alanya was undertaken in two separate campaigns ; a first period
of five weeks in May/June and a second of three weeks in August. During July the
Director returned to Ankara to attend to Institute affairs. While at Alanya he was
fortunate in the collaboration of Dr. D. Storm Rice and was assisted for part of the
time by the Institute Fellow, Mr. Michael Ballance.

The sea-fortress, constructed for the most part by the Seljuk Sultan Allahettin
Kaykubad in the early years of the 12th century, was named after him Alaiyye.
To-day the great rock projecting into the sea is encircled by nearly two miles of
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well preserved fortifications. There are famous buildings such as the * Red Tower
and ‘“ Tersane ”, or ship-building galleries at its base, and at its summit other
monuments, including two early Byzantine churches and a small monastery. By
the help of air-photographs, obtained through the friendly co-operation of the
Turkish air force, a detailed site-plan was constructed of the entire city : larger-scale
architectural drawings were made of the twenty-eight principal buildings and
elements in the fortifications by the Director himself : more than a score of Arabic
and Persian inscriptions were photographed (when necessary telescopically) by
Dr. Rice, and are being collated and studied by him. In the architectural field also,
nearly 400 photographs were taken by Dr. Rice, and a great many successful colour-
transparencies made. Finally, measured drawings and photographs were made of
all the Seljuk buildings at subsidiary sites in the neighbourhood ; medreses at Oba
and Gulefsen ; a castle and caravanserai at Alara and others on the old highroad
to Konya.

The work of the survey was continued under difficulties during the second part of
the campaign in August, on account of abnormally high temperatures and humidity.
The whole enterprise was, however, completed as planned and visits made to some
further stations on the Konya road.

Excavations :

The Walker Trust excavations in the Palace of the Byzantine Emperors at
Istanbul were resumed under the direction, first of Professor D. Talbot Rice and
later of Mr. J. B. Ward Perkins, from the last week in April until mid-July. The
staff included Messrs. G. U. S. Corbett, D. Oates, M. Scott and Miss Ann Wilson.
A report on the results, including the discovery of new mosaics, will be the subject
of a lecture to the Society of Antiquaries.

Activities of Fellows, Students and others :

Dr. O. R. Gurney arrived in Turkey in mid-September in time to take part in the
reconnaissance, organized by the Director, of Bronze Age sites in the area selected
for research in 1954. During October and November he worked in the Ankara
Museum, copying and supervising the repair of the Sultantepe tablets.

Dr. D. Storm Rice collaborated, with the Director in the survey of medieval
Alanya during May and June. He afterwards left for London, en route to America,
where he is at present fulfilling a one-year’s lecturing appointment at the University
of Michigan, Ann Arbor.

Mr. and Mrs. Michael Gough returned in early July to their survey of ancient
monuments in Cilicia, and remained there till the end of August. The work of
recording sculptures and inscriptions at Bodrum was first carried a stage further.
The survey of Ayas (Elaecusa Sebaste) was then continued and the clearance
completed of the mosaic pavement discovered in the previous year. The camp was
finally transferred to the region of Mut and Alahan, where much architectural
recording was done and discoveries made of new frescoes, mosaics and sculpture.

Mr. Ian Macpherson arrived in Ankara at the beginning of April and from that
time until mid-September used the Institute as headquarters while he continued his
epigraphic survey of the Galatian Province. Having been provided with a car by
the Scarborough Committee, he benefited greatly from increased mobility and
could improve the scope and thoroughness of his work accordingly. The result was
a very large crop of new inscriptions and the definitive investigation of large areas
within the Province.
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Mr. Michael Ballance (Institute Fellow for 1953—-4) worked in Turkey from April
to November, using the Institute as headquarters during a series of journeys con-
nected with his study of ancient marble quarries. In addition to his prescribed
programme of research, he found time to make interesting architectural recordings
of Byzantine buildings at Antalya and elsewhere, as well as taking part in the Alanya
survey and assisting Mr. Gough in his work in Cilicia.

Mr. FJames Mellaart (Institute Scholar for 1953—4) returned to Ankara in April
after completing a mound-survey of the Jordan Valley on behalf of the Hashimite
Government. A great part of the summer was spent by him in completing his
report on the very extensive survey of south-western Turkey undertaken by him
in the previous season, preparing maps and numerous pottery diagrams. He was
assisted in this work by his fiancée, Miss A. Cenani, a pupil of Professor K. Bittel in
Istanbul University. During the autumn months he took part in the Director’s
_reconnaissance of major sites located during his previous survey, and undertook
himself a further journey in the Aegean provinces in the hope of clarifying certain
problems which had arisen from his previous work. Mr. Mellaart returns to Jordan
for a winter campaign of work on behalf of the Antiquities Department.

Miss V. Seton-Williams returned to Turkey in July accompanied by Miss 7.
du Platt Taylor and Miss M. Munn-Rankin. Owing partly to the fact that the Turkish
Majlis was no longer in session, a ministerial permit for the sounding which she had
proposed to make could not be obtained within the limited time which she was able
to spend in the country. Her party was, however, with the helpful assistance of the
local authorities, able to carry out an alternative programme of archaeological
reconnaissance and other work in the Gaziantep area.

Mr. David Oates, after completing his duties with the Walker Trust expedition
in Istanbul was able to join Mr. Gough’s party in Cilicia for some weeks and to offer
the expedition valuable assistance. For a short time Mr. Gough was also assisted
by Mr. D. R. Wilson. Other registered students who spent some time in Ankara
during the course of their researches in Turkey included Mr. Peter Hulin, whose
travels were being prolonged after assisting in Professor Mallowan’s excavations at
Nimrud and Mr. 1. J. C. Foster.
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SUBSCRIPTIONS RECEIVED DURING THE YEAR ENDING MARCH 31sT, 1953.

University of Arkansas (for ’51 and ’52)

Blrmmgham .

Brown (for ’51 and 52)

California
Cambridge
Chicago
Durham
Edinburgh
Glasgow
Goteberg (for ’ 51

Liverpool (for ’52 and ’53)

Manchester, Victoria
Melbourne .
Michigan

Missouri (for 51 and 52)

New Mexico .

New York (for ’52 and 53)

Oxford .

Pcnnsylvama (for 52 and’ ’53)

Princeton

Reading

Sheffield

Sydney

Washington (for 51,
Yale

5.2 and ’53)

52 and 53)

American School of Classwal Studxcs, Athcns

Ashmolean Museum Library, Oxford

Bibliothéque Orientale, Beyrouth .

Birmingham City Museum and Art Gallery (for 52 and 53)

Birmingham Public Libraries

Commonwealth of Australia Natxc;nal lerary (for’ 5!, 52 and 53)

Detroit Public Library
Exeter College, Oxford

Gonville and Caius College, .Cambndgc (for? 50, 51 and’ 52)
Institute of Archaeology, Umversuy of London .

Merton College, Oxford

New College, Oxford

New York Public Library
Newnham College, Cambridge

Pennsylvania University Museum .(for 51 and 52)

Peterhouse College, Cambridge
Royal Numismatic Society .
St. John’s College, Cambridge

School of Oriental and African Sn.xdxes, Umversxty of London (for 52 and’ 53)

Sidney Sussex College, Cambridge
Trinity College, Cambridge
University College, London

University College of Leicester th;rary (for 51 ,
Victoria and Albert Museum lerary (for 52 and 33) . . .
Warburg Institute Library (for ’52 and ’53) . . . .

Albertini, J. H.

Alkim, Dr. U. B.

Allen, W. E. D. .

Amiran, Mrs. R. B. K. (for 51, 52 and
’53)

Anderson,_] K. (for’ 52 and 53)

Appleyard, Miss B. .

Arthur, G. G.

Astrom, P (for 52 and 53)

Barnett, G. W

Barnett, R. D

Bean, G. E.

*Beaver, Sir H. E C

Benda, J. . .

Berenson, B.

Bibby, T. G. .

Boase, Professor T. S. R. (for 52 and
, 3 .

Bonham-Carter, Lady C.

Bowen, H. C.

Brausen, Mrs. E. (for 51 and 52)
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Brice, W. C.

Brink Professor C. O. (for 52 and 53)
*Brock, J. K. .

Burn, A. R.

*Calder, Profcssor W. M
*Cary, Professor M. .
Childe, Professor V. G.
Cook, Mrs. E. M. .

Cook, J. M. .

Coole, Miss R. D.

Corbett, G. U. S. .
Craig, Mrs. B. D. (for ’ 52 and 53)
Crossland, R. A. .
Dcwhurst, R. K.

Dunbabin, T. J.

Evans, J. D. (for 5: and 52)
Everett, M. H. S

Forbes, Capt. H. 's.

Forrer, L.

*Frankfort, Profcssor H
Gadd, Dr. C. J.
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Gallagher, E. R. .
Garrod, Professor D. A.E.
‘Garstang, Professorj .
*Gelling, P. S.
Gibb, Sir Alexander .
"Gough, M.R.E. .
Gough, Mrs. D. M. .
Grange, F. P. de la
Grant, Professor M. .
Gray, Miss D. H. F. .
*Gurney, Dr. O. R.
Hall, Miss M. L.
Harden, D. B.
Harding, C. L. . . .
Hone, Mrs. M. E. (for 52 and ’53)
Hood, M. S. F. (for ’52 and 53)
Hopper, R.J.
Horn, Profcssor S. H
*Hulin, P.
Hyslop, Mrs. Maxwell
Isserlin, B. S. J.
Jarvis, C. E.
Jenkins, Professor R. J’ H.
Kent, Professor J. H.
Kenyon, Miss K. M.
Lamb, Miss W. .
Lawrencc, Professor A. W
Lawrence, Mrs. B. 1.
*Levy, Miss G. R.
Macnaghten, R. D.
*Macpherson, I. W. .
Mallowan, Professor M. E. L
Mance, Brig.-Gen. Sir H. O.
Mundy, Dr. C. S. . .
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Munn-Rankin, Miss J. M.
*Murrell, A. W. .
Myres, Professor erj L.
Nute, Dr .

Okyar, O.

Parkhouse, R. J

*Phythian-Adams, Rev. Canon W. J.

Pratt, F. J. T.

Reisiger, J. H. .

Rice, Dr. D. S. .
Rice, Professor D. Talbot .
Richter, Miss G. M.
Robertson, Professor D.S.
Robinson, E. S. G. .
Robinson, R. D. .
Rowton, Major M. B. .

*Runciman, The Hon. Steven
Rushworth, E. (for ’52 and 53)
Segal, Dr. j B.
Seton-Williams, Miss V
Stapleton, Dr. H. E.

Stark, Mrs. Freya
Stewart, J. R. .

*Syme, Professor R. .
Taylor, Miss J. du Plat
Thorburn, P.

Tomlin, E. W. F. .
Toynbee, Professor A. .

*Toynbee, Professor J. M. C.
Vorys, Miss J. E. .

*Willans, J. B.

Wiseman, D.]J.
Woodward, A. M. .
*Woolley, Sir Leonard
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